
 

 

WARREN COUNTY BOARD OF RECREATION COMMISSIONERS 

500 Mt. Pisgah Avenue, PO Box 179 

Oxford, NJ 07863 

August 12, 2025 

Meeting Minutes 

CALL TO ORDER: 

Mr. Helbing called the meeting to order at 5:00 PM. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL: 

Members Present:  Michael Helbing, Charles Fineran, John Trontis, Tom Lizzi, and 
Jane Bullis 

Members Not Present:  Michael Margulies 
Staff Present:   Corey Tierney, Elizabeth Roy, and Olivia Stettler 
Staff Not Present:   Justin Tibbetts 
 
INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT: 

Mr. Helbing read the Open Public Meeting Notice. 

MINUTES: 

The meeting minutes from June 10, 2025 were reviewed. Mr. Trontis motioned to approve the 

minutes, seconded by Mr. Fineran. Mr. Helbing, Mr. Fineran, Mr. Trontis, Mr. Lizzi, and Ms. Bullis 

voted in favor. The minutes were approved. 

PUBLIC COMMENT (related to agenda items): 

Mr. Tierney introduced Ms. Stettler, the new clerk for the Department. 

CORRESPONDENCE: 

Mr. Trontis asked Mr. Tierney if he had received messages from the DEP Natural Resources 

Conservation Service, including forwarded information about grants available for the 

establishment of grassland bird habitat. Mr. Tierney affirmed that he did receive those messages 

and would look into the opportunities. Mr. Helbing shared that those grants might be applicable 

to the Geiger Tract. Ms. Hehn, from the public, offered that these could be good projects for the 

Warren County Parks Foundation. Mr. Trontis agreed to forward the information to Ms. Hehn. 

REPORT OF COMMITTEES: 

Morris Canal Committee – Mr. Fineran reported that the Morris Canal Committee met on 

August 11th and that the signage projects were up to date and running smoothly. Mr. Roth 

stated that interpretive signage was being installed at Florence Kuipers Park, Plane 10W, and 

Bread Lock Park. 

Warren Heritage Scenic Byway – Mr. Trontis reported that a Doodle poll was being circulated 

to the committee members to select a date for their August meeting. The next meeting would 

include the election of new officers. 



 

 

Warren Highlands Trail – Mr. Helbing reported that he had cleared trees from the western 

seven miles of the trail and noted that the worst section was the Geiger Tract, excluding the 

area near the Farmers Fair. That section was not passable due to corn growth. Mr. Trontis 

stated that in his career in parks management, he had added perimeter field mowing width and 

height requirements to lease property contracts. Mr. Helbing added that such requirements 

could be difficult to enforce. 

Mr. Trontis reported that the Warren Highlands Committee met on April 4th and suggested 

scheduling the next meeting in October to avoid conflicts. Mr. Tierney had agreed to host and 

coordinate the next meeting. 

Mr. Helbing stated that he would still like to see road crossings or trail acknowledgement signs 

where the WHT met roadways. Mr. Trontis stated that since it crossed mainly county roads, it 

should be easier to have those installed. Mr. Tierney explained that the prior Planning Director 

had been working towards this, but has since retired. However, the Planning Department is 

continuing this work under the new director of the WC Planning Department, Ryan Conklin. 

Mr. Helbing further stated that he had cleared the Marble Hill section of the trail, so no trees 

were blocking it. 

Lehigh and Hudson River Rail Trail – Mr. Tierney mentioned that the next meeting would be 

scheduled soon. 

OLD BUSINESS: None 

NEW BUSINESS: 

Administrator’s Reports – Mr. Tierney shared the following reports with the Board: 

 Acquisitions 

o Standardized maps were being created to streamline interdepartmental 

discussions, and project reference maps would be included in packets moving 

forward. 

o Mr. Tierney reported that the Wishing Well property was moving forward. The lot 

size had decreased from 207 acres to 97 acres. In response to Mr. Trontis’s 

request for clarification, Mr. Tierney explained that it was north of the Mount 

Pleasant Property and included woodlands and possible access to Wishing Well 

Road. NJCF and RVC had met with the landowner and would continue 

discussions. 

o The Bodolsky property had been submitted to Green Acres, with a response 

expected in about two weeks. 

o The Towpath Apartments project remained active; the owners were still interested 

but needed to complete significant internal review. 



 

 

o A preliminary assessment report was received for the Sigler Farm. Environmental 

concerns were being addressed with the owner, but the project was moving 

forward. 

o Surveyors had recently been at the Washington Township Surplus property, and 

work was expected to conclude shortly. Clarification was provided regarding the 

property location on the handout map. 

o The Miller property continued to face environmental concerns and other issues 

delaying demolition. 

 Mr. Helbing asked if salvage efforts had been considered. Mr. Tierney 

explained that salvage could be done selectively after acquisition or 

contracted out at a later date. He noted that if anything of obvious 

economic value was found, the demolition contractor would handle 

salvaging. 

 Mr. Helbing expressed concerns about unique items of historical value in 

the basement. Mr. Tierney reported that any belongings in the house were 

considered personal property and must be removed by the estate under 

the contract. 

o The HMUA had submitted all required documents to relocate the water tank and 

move the project forward. 

o Mr. Tierney reported that, through the development review process, the owners 

of the Cheema property had donated a trail easement along the back of the 

property. There was discussion about the current trail location. 

 Maintenance & Improvements 

o A maintenance report was provided as a handout. 

o Park and trail brochures had been updated and would be uploaded to the Warren 

Parks website. 

o Mr. Tierney reported that he was working with the Planning Department on an 

asset inventory mapping project to compile asset information to inform capital 

improvement and maintenance plans. 

o County property maps were being created for use by the Department of Public 

Safety and Emergency Response to aid emergency access. Mr. Helbing offered 

to send example maps from the Worthington and Delaware Water Gap areas. 

Discussion followed regarding map components. 

o Hunting maps would be updated. In response to Mr. Trontis’s question, Mr. 

Tierney confirmed that safety zones would be highlighted, though hunters were 

still responsible for knowing their locations. Discussion followed on hunting safety 

and regulations. 



 

 

 Park Programs 

o Mr. Tierney presented the Park Programs Report on behalf of the park naturalist. 

Mr. Trontis complimented Jennifer on her detailed and descriptive report. 

 Meetings & Events 

o Mr. Tierney reported that the Moonlight Paddle at White Lake went well, though 

some concerns needed to be addressed. 

o The White Lake yoga program had been well received. 

o The Warren County Bicentennial Celebration was held on Saturday, June 28th, 

with volunteers and staff distributing information about the parks. 

o Parks information was also distributed at the Farmers Fair booth. 

 Other Comments 
There was discussion about the proposed purchase of the Genesis Farm and how it 
would subsequently be managed. Mr. Helbing commented on the potential for a trail 
corridor using the Ridge and Valley Trail. Mr. Trontis mentioned that Mr. Tierney always 
considered how individually acquired properties fit together as a whole. Mr. Helbing 
noted that volunteer participation had been waning overall. 

Mr. Lizzi asked for an update on the nature center at Bread Lock Park. Mr. Tierney 
reported that the application had been submitted to SHPO and that the plan was to have 
the project out for bid by the end of the year. Mr. Trontis offered a sign that could be 
used if the nature center would be considered a visitor’s center. Mr. Tierney stated that it 
would be kept in mind but might not be appropriate for the nature center. There was 
further discussion about the possibility of a Scenic Byway visitor’s center at alternative 
locations. 

Mr. Tierney reported that the Warren County Local Safety Action Plan would be 
available on the website along with the Complete Streets Plan. Mr. Helbing mentioned 
the Morris County pedestrian guide, and Mr. Tierney replied that they would look into it. 
Mr. Tierney also reported that the county was updating the hazard mitigation plan. Mr. 
Lizzi asked if that plan identified dead ash trees. Mr. Tierney responded that he was not 
sure if they were in the plan already, but agreed that dead ash trees are a public hazard 
and would suggest they be identified in the plan. Mr. Tierney also reported that a review 
of the Open Space Plan would begin the following year. Mr. Trontis noted that a 
separate, dedicated meeting would be necessary for in-depth discussion of relevant 
issues. 

Ms. Stettler presented a Bread Lock Park special use permit request from Pack 145 for 
their scout meeting on September 19th from 4:00 PM to 9:00 PM. Mr. Helbing inquired 
about proper lighting for the pavilion. Ms. Roy mentioned that overnight events had been 
held without issues. Mr. Trontis asked whether the group planned to have a campfire. 
Ms. Stettler replied that no such request had been made and that she would confirm with 
the applicant. Mr. Trontis motioned to approve the application, seconded by Mr. Fineran. 
All voted in favor. The motion was approved for Pack 145’s use of Bread Lock Park on 
September 19th. 



 

 

Ms. Stettler then presented a Bread Lock Park special use permit request from BSA 
Troop 2022 for an overnight campout from November 7th to November 8th. Mr. Trontis 
questioned whether the location had previously hosted overnight camping. Mr. Tierney 
responded that scouts had camped at Bread Lock Park behind the museum building in 
the past. Mr. Trontis asked how restroom facilities would be handled. Ms. Roy noted that 
an accessible portable restroom was on-site. There was discussion about establishing a 
fire ring at Bread Lock Park for future use, as well as considering an alternative camping 
site once the nature center was operational. Ms. Roy added that, to her knowledge, 
scouting groups had not previously had campfires at the site, though a grill pedestal was 
available. Mr. Fineran motioned to approve the application, seconded by Mr. Lizzi. All 
voted in favor. The motion was approved for Troop 2022’s overnight campout on 
November 7th. 

Ms. Bullis asked if budget reports were still being presented at meetings. Mr. Tierney 
answered that a budget report could be prepared for the Board, explained that all Board 
actions were funded through the County Open Space Trust, as approved by the County 
Commissioners annual budget, and that the allocations between farmland, MCCT, and 
Board of Recreation had not changed. There was discussion about farmland 
preservation, trail easements along farmland, and open space priorities. 

Ms. Bullis also asked whether the three entities that received Open Space Trust funding 
met together. Mr. Tierney explained that they have not recently, but that there was such 
a meeting decades ago; there was a ‘task force’ referenced in the open space plan. Any 
meeting involving decision-making authority would need to be open to the public, but it 
might be possible for one representative from each entity to meet and discuss a set list 
of topics as a working group. 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 

Ms. Hehn inquired whether she and Mr. Roth could receive a copy of the Board’s packet of 
materials and reports. Mr. Tierney answered that, as discussed previously, once the meeting 
minutes had been approved, they could be distributed to the public. Ms. Hehn asked for a copy 
of the materials as soon as they became available. 

Mr. Trontis asked if county staff were involved in WCPF meetings now that they were no longer 
held at the DLP office. Ms. Hehn replied that the WCPF had become independent. Mr. Roth 
mentioned that all were welcome to attend the meetings. Mr. Trontis noted that when he was a 
member of the WCPF, county staff representation had been important. Mr. Helbing stated that it 
had always been the goal of the WCPF to move toward independence from the County. Mr. 
Tierney commented that the WCPF had moved their meetings to a date and time when he was 
not available, but he would attend if the schedule were changed. Mr. Trontis stated that he was 
impressed by the work of the WCPF and would like to see more collaboration. Mr. Tierney 
explained that he had scheduled a standing monthly meeting during the day with the WCPF, but 
that the Foundation had expressed that they did not wish to continue the regular meeting. He 
reiterated that he was available prior to BORC meetings, and during the day as previously 
calendared, to meet with the WCPF. Ms. Hehn repeated that all were welcome to attend WCPF 
meetings. Mr. Roth stated that the meeting date and time had been changed to immediately 
after the BORC meetings at the Museum at Meadow Breeze Park. 



 

 

NEXT MEETING: 
The next Board of Recreation Commissioners meeting was scheduled for Tuesday, September 
9, 2025 at 5:00 PM. 

ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, Mr. Fineran motioned to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Ms. 
Bullis. All voted in favor. The meeting was adjourned at 6:10 PM. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Olivia Stettler 
Warren County Land Preservation Department 

 


